Equity-Minded Principles for Presidential Searches in Higher Education



TIAA Institute

American College President Study

The American Council on Education (ACE) produced the American College President Study (ACPS)—the most comprehensive, in-depth, and frequently cited source of information about the college president—and its related material, with generous support from the TIAA Institute. *The American College President: 2023 Edition* is the ninth iteration of ACPS, and the data it presents provide a comprehensive view of the demographics, challenges, and experiences of college presidents, helping all stakeholders gain a holistic understanding of higher education leadership and better reflect on ways to diversify the presidency. More information about ACPS can be found at acenet.edu/acps.

TIAA Institute

The TIAA Institute helps advance the ways individuals and institutions plan for financial security and organizational effectiveness. The Institute conducts in-depth research, provides access to a network of thought leaders, and enables those it serves to anticipate trends, plan future strategies, and maximize opportunities for success. To learn more, visit **tiaainstitute.org**.

American Council on Education

The American Council on Education (ACE), the major coordinating body and convener for all of the nation's higher education institutions, provides leadership and a unifying voice on key higher education issues and influences public policy through advocacy, research, and program initiatives. To learn more, visit **acenet.edu**.



ACE and the American Council on Education are registered marks of the American Council on Education and may not be used or reproduced without the express written permission of ACE.

American Council on Education One Dupont Circle NW Washington, DC 20036

© 2023. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

Equity-Minded Principles for Presidential Searches in Higher Education

Jorge Burmicky

Assistant Professor of Higher Education Leadership and Policy Studies, Howard University

Kevin R. McClure

Wendy and Dell Murphy Distinguished Scholar and Associate Professor of Higher Education, University of North Carolina Wilmington

Jordan Gonzales

Senior Director of Alumni Engagement and Senior Diversity Officer, University of Nebraska–Lincoln

> **Cameron J. McCoy** Provost, Shenandoah University

Author's Note

We would like to thank Sharon McDade for her expert feedback on this piece.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Equity-Minded Principles	2
Principle #1: Challenge Perceptions of What Constitutes a Good Candidate	2
Principle #2: Don't Expect Minoritized Candidates to Be Superheroes, and Be Prepared to Support Them	4
Principle #3: Examine Implicit Bias and Participate in Meaningful Bias Training	5
Principle #4: Shape an Intentional and Inclusive Presidential Leadership Prospectus	6
Principle #5: Be Mindful in the Selection of Search Firms	8
Conclusion	9
Appendix A: Summary of Methodology	10
Appendix B	11
References	.12

Introduction

Today, American college and university presidents face ever-increasing pressures from internal and external stakeholders. As a result, institutions are investing more resources to minimize presidential turnover (Harris and Ellis 2018) and, if needed, optimize the presidential search process. Despite these efforts, studies on presidential searches are scarce. Moreover, little is known about the roles and perceptions of search consultants in presidential searches (McDade et al. 2017), particularly regarding diversity efforts.

Recent reports suggest that higher education has made progress in diversifying the college presidency (Selingo, Chheng, and Clark 2017), but despite these gains, the majority of presidents remain White and male (Gagliardi et al. 2017). Although diversity, equity, and inclusion initiatives have grown on campuses (Singleton et al. 2021), the presidential search process still harbors inequitable protocols, practices, and norms. We refer to these inequities as *mechanisms of exclusion*.

To combat these mechanisms, this research brief introduces five equity-minded principles for conducting presidential searches. These equity-minded principles emphasize the need to challenge color-blind or color-evasive hiring practices (Harper 2012; Liera and Hernandez 2021) that have yielded similar results over time, namely the exclusion of highly qualified individuals from historically marginalized backgrounds. Though our exploration of mechanisms of exclusion extends beyond race, we make a deliberate effort to examine how White norms shape the presidential search process. For instance, we analyze how traditional hiring routines might be shaped by White normative standards of leadership through use of the coded term "executive material."

Believing that practitioner knowledge is underestimated in higher education research (Bensimon 2007), we also interviewed 15 full-time search consultants at firms specializing in higher education executive search (see Appendix A for our full methodology). Search consultants are critical to research about executive hiring practices, in part because they are uniquely positioned to help search committees and governing boards operationalize equity-minded principles. Until now, they've been largely overlooked in related research.

Although search consultants are not traditional higher education practitioners, many of our participants served in those roles prior to joining search firms. As such, the principles described herein are grounded in their perceptions on presidential search processes and the mechanisms of exclusion embedded in those searches.

These equity-minded principles are tailored to presidential search committee members and governing boards. Not only is the board the entity legally empowered to choose the institution's president, but research shows that governing boards shape numerous institutional policies and practices (Barringer and Riffe 2018; Morgan et al. 2021). We mention search committees specifically in this brief because they often make recommendations to governing boards, either at the system level or campus level (or both), on which individuals to hire (McDade et al. 2017). Nonetheless, our findings are still transferable to other executive searches in higher education.

In the interest of ensuring the next generation of talented presidents, it is critical to invest in examining and updating protocols, practices, and norms in presidential searches. We encourage boards, search committees, search firms, and human resources offices to use these equity-minded principles to further truly inclusive hiring practices on their campuses and in their communities.



Equity-Minded Principles

We present five equity-minded principles for conducting presidential searches; the first three are general principles, while the last two focus on specific procedures within executive searches. Since some search committee and governing board members may be new to executive searches in higher education, we also explain key steps of the typical presidential search process and accompanying equity-minded principles (see Appendix B).

Principle #1: Challenge Perceptions of What Constitutes a Good Candidate

Equity can be hampered in presidential searches before the first application is submitted based on perceptions of what constitutes a good candidate—or "executive material"—including how these concepts are expressed in documents and discussions. These vague concepts are used to assess intangible characteristics and often modeled after confident, extroverted, charismatic leaders who command the room.

Nearly every consultant noted that while more efforts to infuse diversity into governing boards have taken place, boards remain predominantly composed of White men whose understanding of executive searches and leadership often comes from business or industry. Consultants also noted that boards are inclined toward someone with whom they are "comfortable," which can lead to a type of cloning. In the words of one consultant,

Presidential searches have lots of trustees involved—often big donors, really important community members. They bring other kinds of sensibilities, mostly from the business world. Although I think this has gotten better with the bias training provided to presidential search committees, these people will often bring their own particular biases from their world and their worldviews. I cannot tell you how many times I have been

in situations where one of those outside people will make a pejorative comment about a woman or person of color during discussions of candidates: "Oh, she doesn't look like she could go into a Fortune 500 CEO office and ask for \$5 million."

To counter these scenarios, equity-minded searches challenge biased perceptions of executive material that can disadvantage other styles of leadership and presentation, and they include people with diverse backgrounds and experiences on the search committees.

Boards and search committees' perceptions and evaluations of candidates' professional trajectories and experiences can also introduce mechanisms of exclusion. Many consultants shared that search committees—and particularly their members who represent faculty interests—perceive good candidates as having faculty experience and, ideally, to have ascended to executive leadership through academic affairs. This traditional leadership pipeline through faculty ranks advantages White men, who

constitute 51 percent of the full-time professoriate (as compared with less than 8 percent each for Asian, Black, and Hispanic men and women) (NCES 2022) and are more likely to be promoted and appointed to academic leadership. As one consultant said, "A lot of our presidents of color did not come up through academic affairs. And there is still a bias by many boards and many search committees that you have to have . . . faculty experience to be a president." Equity-minded searches recognize that emphasizing a professional trajectory through academic affairs to the exclusion of other areas that require a rich leadership skill set—including in student affairs; diversity, equity and inclusion; and enrollment management—can operate as a mechanism of exclusion.

Equity-minded searches challenge biased perceptions of executive material that can disadvantage other styles of leadership and presentation, and they include people with diverse backgrounds and experiences on the search committees.

Similarly, institutional affiliation can either create a halo effect or unfairly discount a candidate. Examples of bias from institutional affiliation include if an Association of American Universities (AAU)-affiliated institution only considers hiring someone from another AAU institution, or if a predominantly White institution hesitates to consider a candidate from a community college or historically Black college or university. A parallel issue may be when search committees only want to consider candidates from peer or aspirational institutions, a bias that can contribute to replicating the same types of leaders and characteristics currently at the hiring institution. While motivated by the desire for applicable experience, these biases are still a mechanism of exclusion and limit the opportunities for candidates of color and women. Participants in an equitable search should be mindful of the ways in which elitist perceptions of institutions limit the candidacy of capable leaders.

In addition to types of experience, length of experience can also create bias. Nearly all of our participants said that search committees and governing boards perceive that the good candidates are also the more experienced candidates. In some cases, a sense of fear creates favoritism toward candidates they perceive to be tested and therefore low-risk, such as those candidates who have already been presidents. According to one consultant,

One of the things that troubles me almost more than anything is the really extraordinary bias towards experience. I think it's reflective of the extraordinary stresses and strains felt by all of the American higher education system. The consequences of risk in leadership are felt acutely by boards. And the number of times I will hear a variation of 'we have to get this right,' I think, may lead to a little risk aversion that replicates the past.

Another consultant noted that board members of smaller institutions can feel they have one shot to hire a transformational leader to save the institution or reposition it for long-term success.

Equity-minded searches, on the other hand, recognize that talent comes in many forms, and even candidates with presidential experience can be a risk in terms of being a poor match for the institution or creating a scandal. For example, an established president may not be well suited for moments of upheaval and uncertainty in which campus constituents are clamoring for change. Indeed, labeling sitting presidents who tend to be White men as low-risk is a mechanism of exclusion that can lead to the recycling of leaders instead of tapping into new talent.



Principle #2: Don't Expect Minoritized Candidates to Be Superheroes, and Be Prepared to Support Them

A common mechanism of exclusion that search consultants identified is holding minoritized candidates to a more demanding standard than candidates who are White men. One consultant suggested that governing boards and search committees often subscribe to notions of meritocracy, in which "everyone has a chance to rise to the top, even though we know that's not true." As a result, the achievements of candidates with vastly different opportunity ladders are compared against one another, rather than against the requirements of the job.

This unfair assessment can pit a small number of minoritized candidates against a normative group of peers whose leadership has been actively encouraged and cultivated. The only way for minoritized candidates to stand out is if they are superheroes—leaders who have overcome all manner of obstacles to achieve at levels commensurate with majority candidates. These candidates must not just be experienced or capable leaders—they must be perfect in all categories of evaluation. Multiple consultants suggested that double standards come into play when evaluating candidates' previous leadership roles.

Moreover, the costs of slipping up can be more severe for minoritized presidents. Mounting evidence indicates that women and people of color are overrepresented in precarious leadership positions and are often set up for failure, a phenomenon known as the "glass cliff" (Cook and Glass 2014; Haslam and Ryan 2008). In the words of one consultant, "People of color can get a presidency and make a mistake, and then that could be the end of their opportunities. Whereas White men can keep making mistake after mistake after mistake and get presidencies again and again and again." Research supports that women and people of color are often hypervisible; in other words, they are subjected to higher surveillance since White, straight, cisgender men have historically been the norm in leadership positions (e.g., Dickens, Womack, and Dimes 2019).

Our participants shared that search committees often express a commitment to hire a diverse candidate, but consultants have to push the committee to demonstrate what that means in practice. Keeping this context in mind, several consultants shared that they made sure "the candidates that are in the pool [are] considered on an even basis to avoid tokenism just to advance a diverse pool." Consultants also shared that part of their job is to field questions from minoritized candidates, such as whether the institution is "serious about diversity" and if the candidate is "just a number." One consultant noted that a common sentiment from candidates with whom they have a good rapport is, "Am I going to be the token here? Because if that's the case, I'm not interested."

Consultants underscored that equity-minded boards and search committees ask hard questions about the extent to which they are prepared to hire and support a minoritized candidate. Many consultants ask up front about an institution's true commitment to diversity, such as what else the institution is doing to advance its inclusion, onboarding strategies, and percentage of hires of color. Some boards and search committees fail to recognize the truth about their campus culture or readiness for a minoritized candidate. A consultant noted that the basic question they ask early in the process is:

"Are you ready? Are you ready to accommodate difference?" That's the question. "Do you have a network that will support this person?" All right, if you don't have one, and this is the conversation we're having at the beginning of the search, let's start building, let's start identifying people, and let's start to prepare.

For this consultant, another sign that an institution is not ready is when they do not know how students of color are supported, either on campus or off campus.

For many consultants, it is not enough for a board or search committee to say they want a diverse pool—the institution needed to be ready to support a minoritized candidate, especially if they were the first of a particular identity to serve. One consultant explained:

Because if you're the first person of color, you might have people on campus that really don't want you to succeed. Because they don't see you as a leader. So there are some minefields that you're going to have to navigate, and a good board understands that that's going to be something they have to be attentive to.

Additionally, support for a minoritized leader means that boards and search committees have a sense of what kind of life a president and their family or other support systems could have in the community.

Principle #3: Examine Implicit Bias and Participate in Meaningful Bias Training

Implicit bias is widespread and difficult to change, and organizations must do more than one-size-fits-all training (Onyeador, Hudson, and Lewis 2021). Although implicit bias training has become more widespread, research about its effectiveness remains mixed. Some studies have shown that even the most effective training can have positive effects for increasing knowl-edge about implicit bias, but not necessarily reducing implicit bias itself (Onyeador, Hudson, and Lewis 2021). Furthermore, research shows that White Americans are hesitant to engage in conversations about racism, and many are reluctant to participate in training that interrogates their whiteness (Foste and Jones 2020; Knowles et al. 2014). Implicit bias training can sometimes be broad and generic, and it may not always address issues that are likely to occur specifically in presidential searches.

As such, these efforts must be tailored to the needs of presidential searches, which tend to be highly comprehensive and time consuming. As one consultant put it,

I think institutions, particularly if you're dealing with a board or in terms of a presidential search, an institution needs to invest in a real expert, somebody that can do the training, that can bring it to life and make it an integral part of the search. And probably, for the most part, it's not going to be that person in the EEO [Equal Employment Opportunity] office that just travels around doing that. But there are people, obviously, that are well recognized in the country for doing that type of training. And I think it would behoove institutions, particularly at the higher levels, to engage those folks.

Additionally, all members of the search committee ought to reflect on their own biases. This exercise should also apply to governing board members who are not serving on the search committee—after all, the whole board is ultimately responsible for hiring the president.

In reflecting about their own biases, every member of the search committee should be intentional about being open-minded, especially for ensuring broad consensus. As one of the consultants shared, "A search committee, or a board telling a search committee, 'this is what we want the next president to be,' may seem to be expeditious, but it doesn't build a broad-based acceptance for the kind of person that you bring in that fulfills those characteristics." Although the process of ensuring broad consensus may feel time-consuming and counterproductive at times, it ensures that highly qualified candidates are not overlooked.

It's important to note that reducing bias and creating space for intentionality can be challenging if the search timeline is aggressive and provides insufficient time for careful review of materials. According to one of our participants, most applications arrive one to two days before the deadline. Therefore, search committee members are asked to block enough time to review several dozen applications in what can be a small window before discussions with the search committee. Presidential application materials look entirely different from other higher education searches, and if search committee members are not thoughtful about their review time, it can jeopardize their consideration process and embed more mechanisms of exclusion. Skimming application materials tends to lead to the exclusion, rather than the advancement of candidates. For example, as one of our participants shared, "women, especially women of color applicants, tend to get skimmed" because of the makeup of many board and search committees. In other words, since all individuals have biases and governing boards tend to have a majority of White men, this participant had seen many women candidates—especially women of color—be overlooked by presidential search processes.

Principle #4: Shape an Intentional and Inclusive Presidential Leadership Prospectus

Of the services a search firm provides, the presidential leadership prospectus is perhaps the most visible work product. This document often serves multiple purposes and is referred to using different terms, including institutional profile, marketing document, position description, or candidate's leadership profile. Many of our participants described prospectus development as an essential element of their process and the culmination of hours of campus engagement. Several consultants offered that the document serves as the "heart of the search." Equity-minded presidential searches exercise necessary care when developing a prospectus to meet institutional leadership needs. Our data underscored three important considerations when shaping the prospectus: 1) inclusive imagery, language, and perspectives; 2) careful integration of desired candidate qualifications; and 3) a realistic leadership agenda.

As the initial form of communication to candidates from a search firm and institution (Hartman 2021), the prospectus should be inviting and inclusive. Potential candidates review the institution's imagery, language, and data within the prospectus as an interpretive tool (Markell 2020). However, as perhaps the only public document in the search, it also serves as a message to the broader higher education marketplace. Search committees should actively manage an inclusive yet accurate message for potential candidates via the prospectus. Consultants largely agree on the importance of drafting a "position profile that uses language that is inclusive" and "welcoming to a variety of [candidates]." This process means creating a prospectus that uses images and language that honestly reflect the desired candidates, allowing candidates to see themselves leading the institution. This approach is decidedly different from marketing images and language that evoke ideas of a diverse and inclusive environment where it may not exist.



Second, committees should understand the complexities of the prospectus in order to not make it a primary mechanism of exclusion. These complexities range from legal intricacies to the specificity and breadth of stated requirements in the document. One consultant repeatedly referred to the prospectus as "legally binding" because it provides potential candidates with the specific qualifications that the institution seeks in a new president. Progressing a candidate who does not meet the qualifications requires the document to be adjusted after it has already been made publicly available, which raises ethical and legal concerns for the institution. Other participants affirmed this concern and offered that the diversity of the candidate pool is not only directly related to, but also often dependent upon how the position description is written; too narrow in scope, too restrictive in the requirements, or too exclusive in language, and the likelihood that the institution is not going to recruit as diverse a pool as it might otherwise have increases.

At the same time, search committees should not create a scope of work that is too wide. One participant noted, "The more bullets in there, the more likely you are to skew where that person comes from in terms of functional areas." Additionally, some candidates—particularly those who are minoritized—may read an overly long list of requirements as reason not to apply. As one consultant said, "Women self-select out. If they don't meet 80 percent of their requirements, they don't apply."

The literature reflects the exponential growth of presidential responsibilities over time (McDade et al. 2017; Selingo, Chheng, and Clark 2017), a finding also reflected in our review of nearly 50 prospectuses. Terms discovered in our review included responsibilities, qualifications, characteristics, desired experience and expertise, opportunities, and challenges—all of which a single candidate might be expected to address in their materials and in-person during a search process! Consultants consistently offered that candidates are expected to "write to the prospectus," yet in some instances, this requirement includes writing to both exhaustive bullet-pointed qualifications and broadly summative paragraphs of opportunities and challenges.

Pointedly, many consultants remarked that a prospectus written to find someone with prior presidential experience reflects poorly on equity concerns and suggests the board's lack of commitment to leadership development. One consultant, suggesting that being a sitting president is neither an equity-driven qualification nor an accurate measure of potential success, asked, "Do you want somebody with presidential experience, or do you want somebody with successful presidential experience?" Ultimately, presidential leadership prospectuses should be crafted to speak to a breadth of candidates, ensuring that qualified and diverse candidates do not self-select out (Perkins, Thomas, and Taylor 2000; Hartman 2021). In response, one equity-driven framing mechanism is to offer a clear leadership agenda within the prospectus. Candidates can respond with their equivalent leadership experience, in addition to the position's specific requirements. The agenda is a clear expression of institutional needs and wants, while helping candidates express their familiarity with the higher education landscape (Koester 2016). Providing a less prescriptive summation of the goals and opportunities a candidate is expected to tackle creates a more inclusive approach to assessing the candidate's abilities. This approach also leaves the door open for candidates who do not come from traditional academic backgrounds, aiding in moving past credential fixation and biases around a candidate's institutional pedigree, academic discipline, academic bona fides, higher education administrative experience, and lived experiences.

Principle #5: Be Mindful in the Selection of Search Firms

Like colleges and universities, each search firm is unique. Higher education search firms have evolved from a club of retired presidents in the 1980s to complex, contemporary organizations with diverse values, approaches to the search, and staff expertise (Atwell 2009; McLaughlin and Riesman 1990). Some are stand-alone firms, while others are affiliates of a larger organizational community. Firms may also work with a variety of associations and consortiums. Thus, governing boards and search committees should be mindful of the distinctive characteristics, mission, and services that each firm provides and determine that their values align with the institution's needs.

One important question search committees should ask is how diverse and equity-minded the search firm is. While efforts are being made to improve consultant diversity, it is worth noting that the majority of our participants were White men. Some

search firms are aware of their lack of diversity and go so far as to hire diversity consultants to secure a particular institution's search. As one participant revealed, "I've had situations where . . . [an individual] was a candidate in one of my searches and the next week I see their name on an ad as a consultant. And I'm just like, you know they [the consultant] are just a name to get the search they [the members of the firm] want." An equity-minded search occurs when governing boards hire a firm that employs diverse consultants with a mix of traditional, nontraditional, and unique experiences and expertise.

Search committees and board members should also inquire about a search firm's record of incorporating equity-minded principles and practices into their work.

Search committees and board members should also inquire about a search firm's record of incorporating equity-minded principles and practices into their work.

A common exercise that governing boards and search committees conduct includes asking firms to define their search experience, detail their recruitment strategies, share specific search consultants' experiences, provide pricing information, and share a proposed timeline for the search (AGB 2012). We recommend asking additional equity-minded questions such as:

- How can your firm make the search equitable for all candidates?
- What is your firm's history of hiring finalists from diverse and nontraditional backgrounds?
- What practices does your firm employ during the search to address mechanisms of exclusion, microaggressions, and bias toward candidates?
- How does the firm you intend to hire train consultants to recognize their biases?
- Does your firm offer bias training to committee and board members? How is their bias training different from the one offered at your institution, assuming you have one?
- How does your firm ensure that the members of the search committee adhere to the equity-minded principles taught in the training?

In short, governing boards and search committees need to be aware of what services a search firm offers and how those services can help accomplish institutional goals. Doing so will empower governing boards and search committees to select and work with a firm that will help facilitate an equitable search that aligns with institutional priorities.

Conclusion

This brief introduces equity-minded principles for conducting presidential searches, with search committee members and governing boards as the primary audience. We relied on the perspectives of search consultants for their role in shaping search protocols, practices, and norms. We paid careful attention to the mechanisms of exclusion that affect search processes and can derail efforts to diversify the college presidency.

There is no better time for institutions to consider how prepared they are to conduct an equity-minded presidential search. Given the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the current political climate, we expect that turnover in executive positions in higher education will be high for the foreseeable future. We recommend that governing boards assess these principles before a presidential vacancy occurs to determine the best strategy for their current or future search committee protocols, practices, and norms. This succession planning exercise can help provide equity and stability for the presidential search and ensure the institution's short and long-term success.

The five equity-minded principles outlined in this brief provide governing boards and search committees with a pathway to disrupt traditional hiring routines shaped by White normative standards and mitigate the exclusion of highly qualified individuals from historically marginalized backgrounds. Based on the insight from the search consultants we interviewed, we believe an equitable presidential search process serves as a symbol of the institution's identity and is a learning process for governing boards, search committees, and campus stakeholders to better understand the institution's challenges and opportunities. Conducting an equity-minded search will empower governing boards and search committees to hire the best qualified candidate for the presidency and provide a framework that offers equity and stability as institutions continue to navigate current political, educational, and societal complexities.

Appendix A: Summary of Methodology

We used a general qualitative approach (Merriam and Tisdell 2016) guided by a social constructionist paradigm that allowed us to interpret the search consultants' roles and perceptions of the presidential search process (Mertens 2021). We needed the flexibility to recruit difficult-to-reach participants, especially since our data collection took place during the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on higher education, searches continued, albeit almost entirely through virtual means, which meant that our data collection was carried out while consultants were busy with the searches they were leading. As a result—and given our prior experiences conducting research with participants who are considered elites in higher education (e.g., Burmicky 2022, Burmicky and Duran 2022; McClure and McNaughtan 2021)—we applied certain techniques for recruiting our participants.

First, we used one of our research team members' firsthand knowledge of presidential searches; they had been a candidate in executive-level searches and had established relationships with search consultants. This rapport helped us develop a start list of search consultants that were eligible to participate in our study (Harvey 2011). Second, we developed a list of relevant higher education search firms and emailed invitations to 40 search consultants. Lastly, to ensure the sample was representative of various marginalized identities, as well as representative of numerous search firms, we used snowball sampling by leveraging existing contacts as well as suggestions from interview participants to recruit additional participants (Miles, Huberman, and Saldaña 2014).

We conducted interviews with a total of 15 search consultants. Participants worked full-time at search firms that specialize in higher education executive searches. These search firms included, but were not limited to, Academic Search, AGB Search, Greenwood/Asher & Associates, Isaacson Miller, and Russell Reynolds Associates. Although our participants conducted many executive searches outside of the presidential role, we specifically asked them to reflect on their experiences conducting presidential searches. All of our participants had experience conducting searches at bachelor's degree-granting institutions across the United States, and the majority have been search consultants for at least a decade. Multiple participants were deeply involved in presidential leadership development programs, as well as initiatives designed to diversify the presidency. These participants provided particularly valuable insight into conducting equitable searches. To ensure anonymity, we provide minimal descriptive information about participants in our findings.

Interviews asked consultants to share what a successful search looks like, how search processes typically proceed, and what policies and practices explain the lack of diversity in the presidency. We focused on presidential searches at bachelor's degree-granting institutions versus community colleges. All interviews were conducted via Zoom, lasted approximately 60 minutes, and were transcribed verbatim. All members of the research team were involved in interviewing participants, and we met regularly during data collection to discuss emergent findings. We conducted an initial phase of line-by-line inductive coding of a sample of interview transcripts to get a sense of the data and come to a shared understanding as a group of how to proceed with analysis. We then assigned each member of the team a random sample of interviews to analyze, from which we wrote analytical memos. We shared our memos and synthesized them into the five equity-minded principles we share as our findings. To integrate practitioner knowledge and engage in member checking, we sent drafts of this brief to participants to verify our interpretations (Lincoln and Guba 1985).

Appendix B

This table explains key steps of the typical presidential search process and accompanying equity-minded principles.

	Common Activities*	Equity-Minded Principles to Consider
Pre-search Preparation	 Select search committee chairs Review policies Identify the timeline Determine the eligibility criteria Select a search consultant 	1, 3, 5
Stakeholder Engagement and Prospectus Building	 Hold stakeholder meetings Conduct constituent surveys Identify challenges and opportunities Establish communication plan Develop prospectus 	1, 3, 4
Announcement and Recruitment	 Design comprehensive recruitment plan Establish marketing plan Engage active outreach from consultants and committee 	1, 2, 3
Screening and Interviewing	 Finalize evaluation criteria Review and prioritize candidate pool Schedule initial interviews Hold additional rounds of interviews, as needed Conduct onsite or neutral site interviews with select groups 	1, 2, 3
Selection and Closing	 Hold campus visits Identify top candidates (search committee) Review and interview top candidates (board) Conduct background and reference checks Negotiate contract Select and announce 	1, 2, 3

*Some activities occur in parallel. We have categorized the major activities of a search in an effort to identify the primary moments to center equity-minded principles.

References

- AGB (Association of Governing Boards of Universities and Colleges). 2012. Presidential Search: An Overview for Board Members. Washington, DC: AGB.
- Atwell, Robert H. 2009. "Executive Searches and the Use of Consultants." *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning* 41 (4): 46–47. https://doi.org/10.3200/CHNG.41.4.46-47.
- Barringer, Sondra N., and Karley A. Riffe. 2018. "Not Just Figureheads: Trustees as Microfoundations of Higher Education Institutions." *Innovative Higher Education* 43, no. 3 (June): 155–170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10755-018-9422-6.
- Bensimon, Estela Mara. 2007. "The Underestimated Significance of Practitioner Knowledge in the Scholarship on Student Success." *The Review of Higher Education* 30, no. 4 (Summer): 441–469. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2007.0032.
- Burmicky, Jorge. 2022. "Latino Men and the College Presidency: An Intersectional Analysis of Identity, Power, and Marginalization in Higher Education." *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*. Published ahead of print, January 19, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2022.2025474.
- Burmicky, Jorge, and Antonio Duran. 2022. "Community College Presidential Leadership: How Presidents Think and Act to Support the Holistic Needs of Their Students." *Community College Review* 50, no. 2 (April): 123–143. http://dx.doi. org/10.1177/00915521211061418.
- Cook, Alison, and Christy Glass. 2014. "Above the Glass Ceiling: When Are Women and Racial/Ethnic Minorities Promoted to CEO?" *Strategic Management Journal* 35, no. 7 (July): 1080–1089. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2161.
- Dickens, Danielle D., Veronica Y. Womack, and Treshae Dimes. 2019. "Managing Hypervisibility: An Exploration of Theory and Research on Identity Shifting Strategies in the Workplace Among Black Women." *Journal of Vocational Behavior* 113 (August): 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.10.008.
- Foste, Zak, and Susan R. Jones. 2020. "Narrating Whiteness: A Qualitative Exploration of How White College Students Construct and Give Meaning to Their Racial Location." *Journal of College Student Development* 61, no. 2 (March–April): 171–188. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2020.0016.
- Gagliardi, Jonathan S., Lorelle L. Espinosa, Jonathan M. Turk, and Morgan Taylor. 2017. American College President Study 2017. Washington, DC: American Council on Education. https://www.acenet.edu/Documents/American-College-President-VIII-2017.pdf.
- Harper, Shaun R. 2012. "Race Without Racism: How Higher Education Researchers Minimize Racist Institutional Norms." *The Review of Higher Education* 36, no. 1 (Fall): 9–29. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2012.0047.
- Harris, Michael S., and Molly K. Ellis. 2018. "Exploring Involuntary Presidential Turnover in American Higher Education." *The Journal of Higher Education* 89 (3): 294–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2017.1390969.
- Hartman, Shawn M. 2021. "Navigating Presidential Search amid Competing Demands in an Era of Tumult: An Action Research Report to Enhance the College Presidential Search Process." PhD diss., Northeastern University.
- Harvey, William S. 2011. "Strategies for Conducting Elite Interviews." *Qualitative Research* 11, no. 4 (August): 431–441. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1468794111404329.
- Haslam, S. Alexander, and Michelle K. Ryan. 2008. "The Road to the Glass Cliff: Differences in the Perceived Suitability of Men and Women for Leadership Positions in Succeeding and Failing Organizations." *The Leadership Quarterly* 19, no. 5 (October): 530–546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2008.07.011.
- Knowles, Eric D., Brian S. Lowery, Rosalind M. Chow, and Miguel M. Unzueta. 2014. "Deny, Distance, or Dismantle? How White Americans Manage a Privileged Identity." *Perspectives on Psychological Science* 9, no. 6 (November): 594–609. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1177/1745691614554658.

- Koester, Jolene. 2016. *Closing the Gap: Leadership Development and Succession Planning in Public Higher Education*. Washington, DC: American Association of State Colleges and Universities.
- Liera, Román, and Theresa E. Hernandez. 2021. "Color-Evasive Racism in the Final Stage of Faculty Searches: Examining Search Committee Hiring Practices That Jeopardize Racial Equity Policy." *The Review of Higher Education* 45, no. 2 (Winter): 181–209. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2021.0020.
- Lincoln, Yvonna S., and Egon G. Guba. 1985. Naturalistic Inquiry. Newbury Park, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Markell, Dawn M. 2020. "The Role of Search Consultants in Interpreting and Communicating Organizational Identity During Presidential Searches at Small, Private Colleges." PhD diss., Western Michigan University.
- McClure, Kevin R., and Jon McNaughtan. 2021. "Proximity to Power: The Challenges and Strategies of Interviewing Elites in Higher Education Research." *Qualitative Report* 26, no. 3 (March): 974–992. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2021.4615.
- McDade, Sharon A., Jean A. Dowdall, Narcisa A. Polonio, and Andrea Warren Hamos. 2017. "Preparing and Finding Leaders for Colleges and Universities: An Updated View from Search Firms." *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning* 49 (2): 50–60. https://doi.org/10.1080/00091383.2017.1286219.
- McLaughlin, Judith Block, and David Riesman. 1990. *Choosing a College President: Opportunities and Constraints*. Princeton, NJ: The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching.
- Merriam, Sharan B., and Elizabeth J. Tisdell. 2016. *Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation*. 4th ed. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Mertens, Donna M. 2021. "Transformative Research Methods to Increase Social Impact for Vulnerable Groups and Cultural Minorities." *International Journal of Qualitative Methods* 20. https://journals.sagepub.com/ doi/10.1177/16094069211051563.
- Miles, Matthew B., A. Michael Huberman, and Johnny Saldaña. 2014. *Qualitative Data Analysis: A Methods Sourcebook*. 3rd ed. Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Morgan, Demetri L., Raquel M. Rall, Felecia Commodore, Rachel A. Fischer, and Sam Bernstein. 2021. "Hiding in Plain Sight: The Potential of State-Level Governing Boards in Postsecondary Education Policy Agenda-Setting." *The Journal of Higher Education* 92 (4): 570–595. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2020.1824885.
- NCES (National Center for Education Statistics). 2022. "Fast Facts: Race/Ethnicity of College Faculty." Accessed August 26, 2022. https://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=61.
- Onyeador, Ivuoma, Sa-kiera T.J. Hudson, and Neil A. Lewis Jr. 2021. "Moving Beyond Implicit Bias Training: Policy Insights for Increasing Organizational Diversity." *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 8, no. 1 (March): 19–26. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/2372732220983840.
- Perkins, Lesley A., Kecia M. Thomas, and Gail A. Taylor. 2000. "Advertising and Recruitment: Marketing to Minorities." *Psychology & Marketing* 17, no. 3 (March): 235–255. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1520-6793(200003)17:3%3C235::AID-MAR3%3E3.0.CO;2-%23.
- Selingo, Jeffrey J., Sonny Chheng, and Cole Clark. 2017. *Pathways to the University Presidency: The Future of Higher Education Leadership*. New York: Deloitte University Press.
- Singleton, Kaela S., De-Shaine R.K. Murray, Angeline J. Dukes, and Lietsel N.S. Richardson. 2021. "A Year in Review: Are Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Initiatives Fixing Systemic Barriers?" *Neuron* 109, no. 21 (November 3): 3365–3367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2021.07.014.



